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Strategic Report

The Directors present therr Strategic Report for the yvear endng on 31 March 20235,

Business Review

BigHand 1s a customer-centric global software business with a primary focus on the legal marset with zrr expanding
range of inrovative solutions specifically designed to create value and tangicle return on irvestrment. With our
focused solutions. we are empowerng the business of law.

BigHand’s Mission To help law irrms around the globe optimise Lherr husiness by increasng prefessional productivity
and enhancing profitablity.

We do this through offering four categories of proguctivity tools 1} People Productivity {worktlow rranagerment and
resouwrce management). 2) Financial Productvity (business intelligence and pricang & profitabiity). 3) Document
Proguctivity (docurment creation andg metadata management) and 4) Business Productivity {(pitching & proposals)
Our deep domain knowledce across all our solutions means we act as trusted adwvisors to our customers. This
ensures high levels of custormer satisfaction. a market leading net promoter score and. accordmgly. hugh levels ot
retention and rencwal

BigHand's Vision: To be regarded as the first choice glohally for each key solutior: we offer. whst Being the most
respected software partner tolaw firms globally.

Environmental, Social and Governance
The Group has continued to develop anc implement our Environmental Social and Governance stratedgy, with
progress formally reported to the Board ona quarterly hasis.

These mitiatives include robust governance measures to ensure our staff act :n an etrical manner in all ther dealings
with external parties, contrnued focus on ensurirg our high data secunty standards are rrantansed. chantable
activiies. and environmental initiatives to help establish strong environmental performance standards.

The Group has an Information Security Committee which meets reqularly to assess nisks and threats and
implement appropriate actions

Financial Overview
Theresulis lorthe year are set out ntne Conscohdated Income Statement. The Group loss after taxwas £30,864,000.

Anurmber of subsidiaries are exempt from the requirement of an audit of ther indviaual accounts in compliance vath
5479A-C of the Companies Act 2006, Parertal Guarantee has been given by BigHand UK Topco Limited to each o
the subsidianes isted innote 21

BigHand
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Strategic Report {(continued)

Key Performance Indicators

Proforma results of the BigHand Group

TheRalowtanh: shows the flll year results of BigHand Group for the year ending 31+ March 2022 and 51+ March 2023
hac the ncome stateinent been prapared or & corsistent basis as 8H Group Topco Limited inthe year ended 317
March 20272 exchrding any accounting adjustrments made under IFRS 3.

Proforma

2023 2022

€000 £'000

Supnort revenin 30,032 24,697
Subicnphion reventia 14.878 5,039
Total recurring revenue 44,910 29,736
Licencerevenue 3,434 3.9%6
Seryices revonue 5314 3,700
IT hardware rovenue 252 326
Other 282 278
Total revenue 54,192 38,037
Cost of sales (4,722) {3.522)
Grass profit 49,470 34,515
Adramist-ative oxpenses {29,416} (18.835)

Adjusted EBITDA: earnings before non-
recurring, acquisition, depreciation, 20,054 15,680
amortisation, finance and tax costs

*  FY¥Y?3inciudes 12 months of performance contribution from Irdium as opposed to two months n FYz22.

s  Revenues growto £54.2m (2022 £28m)inthe period to 31 March 2023, The Group's recurning revenues, rrade
up of annual mamterance support and Saas revenues, increased to £45m (2022 £29.7m) an increase of 51%.
Recurnng revenues 1n the year represented 83% of Lotal revenues (20227 78%). providing strong forward
reverue visibiity. Tae Group mamtamed its strong track recerd of low customer attntion,

s  Grossprofitincreasec to £49.6m (2022 {34.5m)anincrease of 43%.

«  EBITDAmcreasedto £20.1m (2022 £15 7)) anincregse of 28%.

f BigHand
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Strategic Report (continued)

Section 172 statement
Section 172 of the Companies Act (2008) requires the board to consider the Ikely consequenices that might result
from any decisions made or actions taken on the long-torm future of the company. and its stakeholcers.

The directors regularly and actively engage with the Group's employees, customers, suppliers, and other
stakeholders to understand relevant stakeholder views.

Employees

A great deal of effort 1s devoted to prowiding clear and consistent communication of the Company strategy and plans
toenable employees to delver the strategy. Twice montnly meetings are held hetween management anc employees
through which we seek Lo keep all employees informed and involved in the prog-ess of BigHand.

The Group makes considerable efforts around staff engagement including reguiar communications events. awards
for staff achievements, external stafl events, mnovation competitions. and making t.rre available for the
development team o innovate.

In the technology sector, talent 1< at a premium and the Group contnues to wmprove s reward, recogrition. and
talent management inibiatives for staff We have done extensive work around our Empleyee Value Proposition,
ensuring we leverage 1ts strongths and identify enhancements. to support inthe attraction and retention of talent

The Group runs a confidential staff survey cach year as wellas nulse surveys tnroughout the year, to gather feedbaci
onkey topics, and the results show very positive feedhack. This positive slaff sentiment was re-affirmied publicly, os
BigHand has been namec as the 25th UK's Best Workplace™ by Great Places to Work®. in the Medium category
(crganisalions with 50-499 employees), for a sixth year runmirg

Customers and suppliers

The Group proactively and continucusly engages with its customers and supphers through both face-Lo-face
meelings, networking events and digital platforms. Tha Group regularly atlends industry conferences acoss its
geographicalregions. The Group conduct s regular Net Promoter Score and Custormer Satistaction surveys of clients

Other stakeholders

The Group regularly engages with its lending bankers through regular performance updates, as well as arnual
presentations reviewing por formance and the budger The Group mantans regular cizlogue with its accounuing. legal
and other advisors to mamntain knowledge of regulatory and market changes.

Thedecisions made and actions undertakenbythe directors amto represent and mantan the company's reputation

for appropriate standards of business conduct.
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Principal Risks & Uncertainties

Financial Risks and Going Concern

The directors, in their consideration of whether the Business 1s a gomg concern, have reviewed the Group's future
cash forecasts and revenue projections, which have been prepared on the basis of market knowledge, past
exper ence and current trading conditions. and believe, based on these forecasts and projecuons and the Group's
current committed debt position and orojected strong cash generation from trading, thatit s aporopriate to orepare
thefirarcal statoments of the Company and Group on e going concern basis. The directorshave assessed the going
concernper octp tao 31stMarch 2025,

Menagement s currently of the opinion that the Group's farecasts and projections, taking account of potential
charges n trading oerformance. show that the Group will be able Lo operate with nots current facilities and comply
with ds bank covenants. In arrving at ther conclusion that the Group has adequate resources, the directors were
nundful that the Group has a strong focus or hguidity and cash flow management ard that it is cur-ently financed
throudh facilities cornmitted to 2028

Durne the year. the Group made a loss of £50.9m and as ot the balance sheet date the Group had net labilities of
{75 7m The directors report that they have re-assessed the principal nisks, reviewed current performance aned
forecasts, combirea with expenditure commitments, including captal expenditure and borrowing facilities, The
Croup and company have financing arrangemernits comprising loans and other fundng which are subject Lo periodic
teview and are subject to certain covenants. The arectors are of the opimien that the necessary finance and other
facilities wall continue to be made avallable and tne Group and company will have the junding necessary to continue
totrade The Group complied with the reguirernents of the loan coverants during the perod and the directors believe
thrs will cortirue in the foreseeable future

The Group's activities expose it te a number of fimanaal risks, mcludmyg Casti low risk, crocit risk and hauichty nsk. Tha
Group does not uso der vative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Cash Flow Risk

Tha Group's cash flownskisits exposure to vanability ncash flows associated with arecognised asset or lability, such
2 fulure interest payments on a debt. the Group manages this risk, by monitoning cash flow projections an a regular
hasis to ersure that appropriate facililies are avalable to be drawn upon. as necessary.

Credit Risk

The Group's credit nskis primantly attnbutable to its trade receivables The amounts presentea inthe balance sheet
areneto®aprovision “or doubtfulrecewvables. Aloss allowance isrequired to be made and measured at Lhe 12-month
expectod creditiosses that resuft from the event of a reduction in the recoveratility of the balance due.

Very fow custormers recelve greater thar 30 days credit terms and this rninirrises the risk of any non-payment. We
clesely ronitor the pavment history of all custormers and communicate with a cusiorrer very early i payment 1 not
receved onthe due dare

Liquidity Risk and Interest Risk

The cask generated by onerationsis monitored closely and all funds are held Inreadily accossible bank accounts with
aqrounneting faclity inplace. The Group's cash flow forecasts are updated regularly to ersurc that sufficiont funds
are avalhble to meet all financial commitrmeants

BigHand
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Principal Risks & Uncertainties (continued)

Foreign Currency Risk
Sales outside of the UK are typically mace in the local currency relevart to the market  The Group s theretore
expuses to movements In tne internat.onal currency markets aganst Sterling

These foreign oxchange trarsactions are hedged through a combiration of expenditure also beirng incuries in the
local currency and appropriate financial currency contracts.

Commercial Risk

BigHand seeks Lo rnitigate commercizl and operational risks through ensunng operational policics are followed,
ensuning st-ong crecit control procedures are in place and ny an angomg review of changes i thie industry All new
custormer contracts are sublect to inrernal legal, commercial. operat onal ard finance sign off at different levely
dependernt or product, complexity. and scale

Business Interruption Risk

The Group has a framework of operational procedures and business continuity plans that are regularly reviewed,
upduted and tested. Back-up "aciities and contingency plans aré in place and are reviewed and tested regularly to
ensure that business irterruptions are minimised. The Group's IT nvests N its infrastructure to ensure that they are
aple to respord to the needs of the business Back-up facllities and contingency plans are inplace and arer eviewed
and tested reqgularly to ensure that dala s protected from corruption or unauthorised use.

Technology / Cyber Risk

The Group's Information Secunty Commitiee meets reqularly to assoss risks and threats and implement approp-rale
actions. An Annual Managerment Review 1s also held between the Information Security Comunittese and Serio
Management to provide assurance to the Board that significant technology nsks 1o the business are being ident‘ied
and apptopriate mitiyations have been implemented, and that the Group's Information Security Managenrent
Systermn remains effective

Bulding cn the Group's current 1ISO27001 and Cyber Essentials Plus certifications. in February 2024 the busmess
commenced work to aligr the Group's Saas soluhons with the SOC2 information security compl.ance standerd A
roadman has been drafled wita the am of completirg a SOC2 aucit ny the end of 2023, The corresponiding audit
reportw il provide further sssurance to our chients (and in particular those in North Armencal tnat the Growp reamtans
the mghestlevel of secanty controlsin orcer to protect their date

The Group nas corunued carrving out Phisiing testing and appropriate training to reduce tne nsk of the busniess
beng ca.ght cut by a phishing attack or data breach The business reqularly rmeets (s target of 5% or less of sla'l
failling & prushing attack test. and 95% of all staff compleled their Security Awareness raining by end-March 2023

The Group recognises that Cyber risk s a threat anc mitigates this trirough investiment in secunty technalogies. ang
a full and comprehensive backap strategy that if required can be used to restore all busmess-cntical services To
complment the technologies 1n olace the Group also kalds a continuous education prograrm for staff swarcress
regyular penetrat on and aophcatior testing, kbusiness continuity plans and disaster recovery olans that cover all
busiress aroas, ans the scenano-based testing of naident maragementplars

; BigHand
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Principal Risks & Uncertainties {continued)

Suppliers, Systems and Infrastructure Risks

There are nnLmrhoer of key suppliers whose services areimportant to the Group These suppliers are reviewed. and
nsk assessed at least annually to ensure that where possible we are not reliant on a single provider. increasing
busincss resiience The Group has appropniate mcident escalation and disaster recovery contingency pians in place.
with cyber forensic experts onretention should they be required

Tre Legaland Complance team carred out 8 full review of key suppliers 1 2022/23. Supplers sre required to rreet
farmzl mrir-um requirements before being aporoved by the Legal and Compliznce team, reducing nsk of data
breach throughout the supplier chan.

Climate Risk

BigHard strives Lo continuotsly improve s performance n the ervironmental arena. This s fundamentally
importancetous webeleve that a sate and sustaimable environmentis essentialto continued business sustanability
and nrofitanility. BigyHand believes there sre significant opportunities to move towards a zero-impact business and
have established s sot of overarching ctyectives to achieve zero-impact cperations by 2030

Internal Controls

The Boarc approves the budget for the following year and reviews the morthly manzgement accounts and key
rerfarmance indicators aganst the budget and obtans explanatons for vanances. The Boara approves all large-
scale captal oxpendilure. There 15 a delegation of authonty meatnx which governs zll purchase approvals, banx

peyments and pricing models.

Onbehalf of the Board

DocuSigned by:

Sames Daswis

ADDGISD50DEDFS
James Davis
CFO

AT duly 2023

BigHand
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Director’s Report

The directors present their annual report and the financial statements of the Group for the year ending 31
March 2023.

The principal acivity of BigHand UK Topco Limited 12 as a holding company. Tne prncipal activity of the BigHand
Grounisthe nrovision of sofiware and services related toimproving prafessional productivity tworcilow management
and docurment creation) and enhanced profitability (financial business inteligence and matter pooing & trac<ing)

Dividends

No dividends were proposed or paid during the year. The arractors de net recommend the payment of a driderdc.

Going Concern

We have assessed tire groun's ard the parent company's ability and concluge the gomg concern bas.s s appr sorale
Please sec Note 1 and page 6 of the financial staterments of the principal risks and uncertaintics section for furlhar
detall.

Directors

The directors wna served the company throughout the year and thereafer wore 35 follows

JDavis

J Kaufrran

S Toulson

s O'Nall {resigned 8 Marck 202 3)

L Sandmann (appointed 8' March 2023)

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

This report s provided to comply with the UK Government's pohcy an Streanmiined Energy and Carbon Reporting

Energy consumpuon and emussions associated with the UK onerations of the Group dunng the 2023 financaial vear
have been calculated and are detaled boiow

Fyz2s
Energy consumption to calculate emissions
Total natural gas consumaotion (kKWh} 103 646
Totalelectricity consurmption (KWhj 148.229
Total (kWh) 251.875
Emissions
Scobe 1 - Eriss ans from combustion of gas (tCO2e) 19.0
Scope 2 - Emiss ons from purchasec electr.oty location based (tCO2e) 307
Total gross emissions (tC0O2e) 48.7

intensity Ratio

ronaes of CO2e per £rn of revenue 108
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Director’s Report (continued)

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (continued)

Methodology

Theemissions and energy datanoted above has been collated, calculated. and presented using the methodology set
cnlin ine with (A Government Environments! Reporting Guidelnes: Inciuding streaniined enerqgy and carbor
reporting quedance (March 20190 The methodology used 1s the GHG Protocol Corporate Standard for the
1
Covornmert GHRG Convenrs enFactet s,

cuantification and reporting of greenhouse gas emissions the emissions factors for Scone 1 and 2 are Som the UK
i r 9 q

Inverces froo the utdity companies ard the utility meter readings were used as tne basis fer reperuing calculations,

Energy efficiency actions taken
3Hand contintiously reviews s eneryy consumption with the am of reducing erergy consurmption. waste

aeneration. andwheore practical irproving energy efficiency Thisincludes

« Irtstives toreduce electr cily and gas consumption

«  ow-epergy LED Iighting

+»  DBisoosing of any waste produced in an environmeritally responsitle manner
e Adoptngpaperless working practices

Renewable energy exports to the Grid
There arenc compary owned or opersted renewable energy sources.

Carbon offsetting
No carhon offsar has been nurchased to offset the enussiors stated above

Disclosure of Information to Auditors

The cirectors who were member s of the Board at the time of approving the Strateqgic Report and Directors’ Report,
are sied above Having made enquiries of fellow directors and of the Company's auditors. each of these directors
corfirrn thal tothe best of each directors' knowledge and belef. there s noirformation relevant to the preparation
of lher report of which the Company's auditors are unaware. gnd each director has taken gl steps a director mught
reasonanly be expected £o have taken to be aware of relevant auditintormation and to estanhish that the Company's
avdizors are aware of that information

This confirmatinn s qrven and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 5418 of the Companes Act
2006.

On hehalf of the Board

DacuSigned by:

James D

A00535B500ED4F4 .
Jarmes Dawvis

C-C

31 Jduly 2023
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

inrespect of the Strategic report, Directors’ report and the financial statements
The diectors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report. anc the Group and parent cormoany financial
staterments in accordance with applcable law and regulatcns.

Company law reguires the directors to arcpare group and parent. company financial statements Tor each firancial
yaar, Under that law tne directors nave elactod to prepare the Group and parent company financal statements m
accordance with International Account.ng Standards in conformity with the Cormpanies Act 2006 ard the parent
compeany inanaal statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Fracl ce (United
Kingdorn Accounting Standards and apphcable law). including Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework ("FRS 1017}

Under corrpany law the directors must not aporove the nnancial statements unless they are satished that they gve
atrue and farr view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent company and of thelr profit or loss For that perod

In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accountng Standard 1 reguires that directors

- Select sutable accounting policies n accordance wath 1AS B Accounting Policies, Changes in Accourntig
Esurmmates and Errars, and then apply thent consistently,

. Present farty tne fmancial position, financial performance. and cashflows of the Group,

- Presentinformation, mcluding accourting policies, ina manner that prowvides relevart. relisble, comparable. and
understandable information,

« Make udgenents and estimates that are reasonaple and pruder:.

. Provide additional disclosures when complancae with the specfic requirements 'n IFRSs s msufficient Lo enable
users to understand the impact o particular transactions. other events and conditions on the group's financal
posion ana hinancal performance

. Irs rospect of the group financial statements, state whether Interrmational Accounting Standards in conforrmily
with the Companies Ac: 2606 have heen followed, subjecl to any matenal departures disclosed and explaned in
the financlal statements, and

. Prepare the financal staternents onthe going concern hasis unlessitisinanpropriate to presurme that the Groun
and the parent company wall contirue in business.

In prepanng the parent company financial statements, the directors are required to
. Select appropriate accounting polic.es and apply them consistenthy,
. Make Judgements and estimates whicn are reasonable and prudent: and

+ State whether they have followed the applicahle UK accounting standards, subject to any materis| ceparturas
disclesed or explained in the financial statements.

The directors are respansible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show ard explair the
parent comarn, s transactions anc uisclose with reasonable accuracy atany ime the firancal posit-on o the parent
compary and enaole therm tc ensure tnat its financal staterrents comply vath the Companies Act 2006 Thiey have
generalresponsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguarc the assets of the Groun and
toorevent and detect rraud and other rrequlanties

BigHand
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of BigHand UK Topco Limited

Opinion

We have aLdited the inancial ssatements of BigHand UK Topco Limited {'the parent company') and its subsdiares
(the ‘aroup’) for the year ended 31 March 2023 which comprise Group Income Statement the Group Statement of
Commnreharsve Income. the Group and Parert Company Balance Sheet, the Group Statement of Cash Flows, and
the Group and Parent Statement of Changes in Equity and the related rotes 1 to 28 including a sumrmary of
signthicant accounting nolicies The financial reporting framework that has heen appled in the preparation of the
agroup financial statements 1s applicable law and UK adopted mternational accounting sitandarcs. The financial
reparling lramoewolk that nas peen applied n the prepdration of the parent company financial statements s
applicable fvw anc United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 "Reducec Disclosure Framework”
United <ingdore Generally Accepted Acccunting Practice).

Inoir opinion

» thefinancial statements give a true and fair view of the group's and of the parent company's affarrs as at 31
March 2023 and of the group’s loss tar the year then ended,

¢ the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted mternational
accounting standards,

o theparent company inancial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

+« the financial stalements have been prepared in accordance with the requiremer's of the Companies Act
2006

Basis for opinion

We zonducted our audil in accordance with Intarnational Standards on Auditing (UK) {1ISAs (UK)) and applicable law
Our responsiohfies under those standarcs are further descrbed m the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
fmancial statemaeris section of our report, We are independent of the group 'n accordance with the ethical
requicements thal arerelevant to our audit of the financial staterments inthe UK, including tne FRC's Ethical Stardard
and wehave fulfilled cur other ethical responsibilities inaccordance watn these reguirements

We believe that the auait evidence we have cbtained is sufticient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opmnion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
I auditing the financial staternonts, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the gong concern bas's of
accountingin the preparation of tne financial statemerils 1s appropriale

Baserd on the work we nave performed, we have not 1dentified any matenal urcertainties relating to events or
conditions tnat, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group and parent company's aoility to
corbinue as agoemng concern for 2 period up to 31 March 2025,

Qur responsibilities and the responsibiities of the directors with respect to going concern are described In the

relevant sectiors of this report.  However because not all future events or conditions can be predicted. this
statement s 1ot a guarantee as to the group's ability to continue as a guing concern.

Page 13
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of BigHand UK Topco Limited
(continued)

Other information

The other nformation comprises the information included in the annual report other than the fnancial stetements
and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsihle for the cther information contained within the annual
report.

Our cpinien on the financial statements does not cover the cther information and, except to the extont other wise
explicitly statea nthis report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility 15 10 read the other information and. in doing so. consider whether the other inforrmstion 13
materally inconsistent waith the finanaal statements or our knowledqe obtaned n the course of the cudit or
otherwise appears to be matenally misstated. If we wlentify such material inconsistencies or appa ent mater dl
rmisstatemants, we are required 10 determing whether this gives rise to a matenal misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. T based on the work we have performed. we conclude that there s @ matenal s statement
of the other iInforrmat on, we are required to report that fact

We have rothing toreport in this regard

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opnicn. based on the work undertaken inthe course of the auait

e the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements ara prepared s consistent with the financial statements, and
e the strategic report and drrectors' renort have been prepered In accordance with applicable leqgal
requirernents,
Matters on which we are required toreport by exception
In the hght of tre knowledyge and understanding of the group and the parent company andits enviconrment oblaned
N the course of the audit, we have notdentified matenal misstatements in the strateqgic report or directars’ repor o

We have nothirg Lo report nrespect of the following matters e relation to wh.ch the Comparies Act 2006 requ res
us Lo report to you It inour opinion
s adequate accountingrecords have not been kent by the parent company. or returrs adeguate for ous aunit
have not been reccived Trom branches not visited by s, or
s theparent company financial statements are not in agreemeant. with the accounting records and returns or
e certandisclosures of directors remuneraticon specified by law are not made. or
e we have not recaived all the mformation and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibdities statement set out on page 11, the directors are responuible
for the preparaton of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and farr view, and for such
internal control as tne arrectors deterrmine 15 necassary to enable the pravaration of fingncial statements (gt are
free frorm rmatenal m sstatement, whether due tofraud or error.

Ir prepanng the financizl statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the pzrent
cormpany’'s ab ity to contimue as a gomg concern. disclosing. as appl.cahle rattersrelatedto going concern anc use:
thegoing concern basis of accounting untess tne directors either ntend ta iquidate the group or the parert compan
or to cease operations, or have no realstic alternative but to do so.

&
¥
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Independent auditor’'s report to the members of BigHand UK Topco Limited
{continued)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our oojectives are Lo abtain reasonable assurance about whether the fmdnaal statements as e whole are free from
matconal misstatoment. whether due to fraud or error, and to ssue an auditor's report tnat includes our opnion.
Reasonable assurance s a high level of assurance. but 1s not a gdarantee that ar audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a matenal misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can anse from fraud or error and
zre consicered rmatenal . indvidually or m the acgregele, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
SCONOMIC decsions of users tzken on the basis of tnese finanoial staterments.

Explanation 3s touhal oxtent the aucht was considered capable of detecting ireguiarities. including fraud

Irecaularties. includ ng fraud, are instances of non-cormpliance with laws and regulations. We design procaedures in
Ime with aur responsibilites. outhned above. Lo detect rregularities, including fraud. The nsk of not detecung
material rrusstaternent due to fraud s higher than the nisk of not detecling one resulting from error. as fraud may
imvolve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. The
extent towhich our procedures are cepable of detecting rregulsnt es including fraud s detalled below. However, the
primary ressorsblity for the prevention anc detection of fraud rests with both those charged wath governarce of the
entity and managoemoent.

Out ephroac v was as foliows

= Woe ontamied an undarstanding of the legal and regulatory frarme warks that are applicable to the company and
determineg that the most significant are those that relate to the reporting framework (UK adoptea international
aceounting stendards for the group. FRS 101 for the parent and the Conmmpartes Act 2006) end the relevant tax
corepharce regulat’ons in the United Kingdom.

* We understooc how BigHand UK Tooco Lirrited s complying w th those frameworks by rmaking inguimes with
rmanagement We corroborated cur inguires through review of board rmunutes and papers provided to those
charged with governance. as well as consideration of the results of vur audit procedures over the compary's
financial statements

+ We assessed the susceptibility of the Company and Group's Imancial staternents to material misstaternent
inciudng how fraud might occur by rmeeting with managernent to understand where it considered there was
susceptibilty to *raud. We considered the programmes and controls that the compeny has established to
addiess rsks icentiied, or that otherwise prevent, deter and detect fraud, and how senior managernent
montors tnose programmes and controls Where the risk was considered to be higher, we performed audit
srocedures Lo address eachaidentificd fraud nisk

* Based on this understanding we designed aur audit procedures to Identify noncompliance with such laws and
requlations. Qur procedures mvolved journal entry testing, with a focus on manual non-standard journals and
iournals ind-catng large or unusual transactions based on our understandirg of the business. inquines of those

rasponsible for legal and cormphance of the company and management; and focused testing  In adation, we

complated procedures to conclude on the complance of the disclosures in the annualresort and accounts with
all applicable requirements.

Afurther nescrintion of our responsbilities for the audit of the financial staternents 1z located on the

Firamcial Reporting Council's website at hittps //www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This descrption forms part
af our auditor'srepors

Page 15
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of BigHand UK Topco Limited
; (continued)

Use of our report

This report 1s made solely to the cormpany's membearsg, as a body. in accordance with Chaptor 3 of Part 16 of the
Comparies Act 20056, Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to tne cormpany's mernbers those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
perrritted by law. we do ot accept or assurme rasponsibility ta anyone other thar the camparnty érd the company's
mearmhers as a body, for our audit work, for this report, ar {or the opinions we have formed.

DocuSigned by:
. et & ouny [F
i 33F11C5B8633442
Jonathan Gill (Seror Statutory Auditor)

forand onbehalf of Ernst & Yowng LLP, Statutory Avuditor
London

Dgted: 31 July 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement

for the year ended 31 March 2023

Note

2023 20227

£'000 £'000
Revenue z 54,192 35945
Cost of saleg (4.722) (3.856)
Gross profit 49.470 22089
Administrative expenses 3 (29.416)  (18793)
Adjusted EBITDA: earnings before non-recurring,
acquisition. depreciation, amortisation, finance, 20,054 13 296
and tax costs
Non-recurring costs 3 (2.914) (5.339}
Depreciation 7&8 (889) (922}
Amortisation 9 (12.461) (8.429)
Total costs {45.680) {33.483)
Operating profit/ (loss) 3 3,790 11.394)
Foreign exchange gain/ {loss) 167 (713
Finance charges (33,626) (20.110)
Amortisation of debt financing costs {903) (1.125)
Net finance expense 5 (34,362) {21.948)
Loss for the year before taxation (30,572}  (23.342)
Taxonloss for the year 6 (292} {603)
Loss for the year {30,864}  (232.945)

Consolidated Statement of other Comprehensive Income

for year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022
£000 .000
Loss for the year {30.864) (25 945)
Other comprehensive income
lters that may subsequently be reclassified tc the profit and loss
Exchange differences on translation of forgign operations {528) 325
Total comprehensive loss for the year (31,392) {23620)

E BigHand
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

at 31 March 2023

Note 2023 2027

£'000 £ 000

Non-current assets
Property plant and equiprment. 7 504 665
Right-of-use Assets & 678 1114
Intangble assets g 299,322 297.429
Deferred tax assel 10 5.494 5,261
Total non-current assets 305,998 305,469
Current assets
Irventaries 87 59
Trade and olherreceivables 7 11,778 145,556
Cash and cash equivalents 12 8,212 13.346
Corporation taxreceivable 615 244
Total current assets 20,692 26 085
Total assets 326,690 552,454
Current iabilities
Tradge and other payables 13 (34.575) (34 /754)
Interest-bearingicans acd borrowings 14 {9) 1431)
Loase habilities 8 (432) (48 /)
Total current liabilities (35.015) (54.052)
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearingloans and borrowings 14 (338.168) (211.230)
Lease lizbilities 8 (411) {795}
Deterred tax hability 10 (28.867} (30,247}
Total non-current liabilities (367.446) (542 257)
Total liabilities (402.,462) (576919)
Net liabilities (75.772) (44.46"%)
Equity
Share capital 15 13 13
Share prermium 1,483 1.462
Reserves (77.268) (45.940)
Total equity (75772} (44.465)

These firancial statemaonts were approved by the Board of directors and signed on ther behalf oy
DocuSigned by:
James Do

~— AODS3ISB500EDAFA
sames Dawvis

CFO

31 July 2023

Comparyregisterec number 12822624

Authonsed forissuc by the Boarc of directors an 31 July 2023

BigHand
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for year ended 31 March 2023

Share Foteign
Share Prermiurm Exchange Retained Ermployee
Capital Accourt Reserve Earnings Benefit Trust Total Equity
£'000 £'000 E'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
31March 2021 10 951 389 (22,681) (5) (21,336)
Lass "or the vear 2022 - - - (23.945) - (23.945]
Exchange differences on translation of
foregn nperations - - 325 - - 325
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - 325 (23,945) - (23,620)
Issue of new shares 3 511 - - - 514
Frriployes Benefit Trust - - - - (23) (23)
31 March 2022 13 1,462 714 (46,626) (28) (44,465)
Loss for ine year 2023 - - - (20.864) - {20,864}
Exchange differences on transiation of
foregn ooerations - - (528} - - (528)
Total comprehensive ioss for the year - - (528) (30,864) - (31.392}
Iseue of new shares - 21 - - - 21
Froploy ee Benefit Trust - - - - 64 b4
31 March 2023 13 1,483 186 (77.490) 36 {75,772}

' BigHand
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 31 March 2023

2023 2022

£'000 £'000
Operating profit/{loss) 3.790 {1.354)
Adjustments to reconcile:
Depreciation 889 922
Amortisation 12,461 8429
Working capital adjustments:
Decrease /(Increase) in trade and other recavables 1,582 (2.330)
increase / (Decrease) n inveniories (28) 75
Increase / (Decrease) in trade and other payables 729 (1.424)
Net cash generated from operations 15,423 4778
interest paid {10.765) [5.66/)
Corporation tax (1,381) (120)
Net cash generated from operating activities 7.277 (1.519)
Cash flows frominvesting activities:
Payments of deferred remuneration and consideration (364) (15001
Payments for property. plant and equipment (308} (420)
Payments to acquire olker intangible assets (9.785) (5611)
Acquisitions (net of cash acquired) (1,743}  1104.357)
Net cash used in investing activities (12.200)  {111888)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payrment of lease habilities (484) (514}
Proceeads from ssue of shares 21 514
(Payments) / Proceeds from EBT 65 (23}
Proceeds fromssue of prefererce snares 462 71,823
(Payments)/Proceeds frormissue of subordinated loan notes - {(7)
Repayment of debt - (2.500)
Proceeds from incrementat bank financing - 42,016
Fees associated with incrermental bark financing - (G00)
Net cash from financing activities 64 110409
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents {4,859) [2998)
Movement attributed to currency and other adjustments (275) (13845
Casn and cash eguwvalents at 1 April 12,246 17727
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 8212 13345

BigHand
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
{forming part of the financial statements)

1 Accounting policies

Beists of prepéralion
BigHand UK Topco Limited (the "Compeny'His a prvale company Iimited by shares incorporated and domiciled inthe
LK

The Group financ al staternents consclidate those of the Company anc its subsidieries (together referred to as the
"Group”). The parent company financal statements presentinformation about the Company as a separate entity.

The Group financial staterments have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with international
srcountnn standards nconformity with the recurrernents of the Companies Act 2006. Tne Cormpany has elected to
prapare its parent company financial staternents in accordance with Friancizl Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
D sclosure Framework (FRS 101). these are presented onpages 47 Lo 55,

The firarcial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except dervative financial instruments, which are
stated at therr far value.

Parenial Guarantee has baen givea by BigHand UK Topco Limited to the subsidianies of the group aslisted inNote 21
exermphing the subsidianas from the requirerment of an audit of their ndvidual accounts in compliance wath s479A-C
ofthe Cormrnanies Act 7006,

The financial staterments are presented n pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pound
(E000} excant when otherwise ndicated.

Gowrg Concern

The directors. in ther conaideration of whether the Business s a guing concern, have reviewed the Group’s future
cash forecasts and revenue projections. which have been prepared on the basis of market knowledge, past
exger eng e and current trading conditions. and believe, based on those forecests and projections and the Group's
current comimilied debt position and projected strong cash generation from tracing. that it1s appropriate to prepare
the Inancial statements of the Company and Grodp ona going concernbasis, The directorshave assessedthe going
corcom periodunio 31 March 2025,

Maragemaoent s currently of the opinion that the Group's torecasts ang projechions, taking eccount of potential
cnanges in frading performance. show that the Group will be able to cperate withinits current facilites and comply
with its bank covenants. In arriving at therr conclusion that the Group has adeqguate resources, the directors were
mirdful 1hat the Group has a strong fozus on lquidity and cash flow management and that it15 currently financed
through faclitios committed to 2028,

Dur ng tne year. the Group made a loss of £30.9m and as at the balance sheet date the Group had net labilities of
t/58m The directors repart that they have re-assessed the principal risks, reviewed current performance and
forecasls, combined with expenditure commitments, ncluding capital expend:ture. and borrowing facilities, The
Groun and company have financing arrangements cormprising leans and other funding which are subject to perodic
review and are subject to certan covenants. The directors are of the opinion that the necessary finance and other
facilities will contirue to be made avallable and the Group and campany will have the funding necessary Lo continue
totrede The Group comphad with the requirenrents of the loan covenants during the perod and the drectors believe
this wilt comtinue in the foreseeable future.

The Group's activities expose it to a nurmber of financial risks, including cash Mow nsk, crediz nsk and lquidity risk The

Group doas not use denvative firarciah instruments for speculative purposes.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation

Subsidianies are all entities controlled by the Group. Tha Group controls an entity when it s exposed to. or has nighls
Lo, variable returns from its involvernent with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its powoer
aver the entity. Control comprises the power tc govern the financial and operating policies of the nvestee so as to
obtain beneft from its actiities and 1s obtained through direct or indirect ownership of voling rights. currently
exercisable or potentially convertible voting rights or by contractual agreement. The acquisition date s the date or
which control is transferred to the acquirer Assets, labilities. income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
dispesea of during the penod are included in the consolidated financ.al statements from the date the Group yans
controlurtithe date the Group ceases to control the subsidhary

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised ncome and expenses arsing Hom nira-group
transactions, are elminated on consolidation.

Estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with international accounting stancaras in conforrity witn the
regurements of the Cornpantes Act 2006 requires the use of estimates ang assumptions thal affect the reported
amounts of assets and laoililies at the date of the finarcial staterments and the reporled amounts of revenues ard
expenses dunngthe reportng neriod. Although these estimates are basea onmanagement's best knowledge of the
amount, events or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those cstimates,

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongong basis. The estimates and assocated
assumplions are basea on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the cirebmstances. Revisions Lo accounting estimates are recognised in the period inwhich the estimate 15 revised
If the reviston affects only that perod. or in the period of the revision and future pernioas if the rewision affects botn
current and future perniocs. The directors consider the following to be crtical estimates anda judgements applicable
to the financial statemerts

o Recoverability of goodwill and impawrment calculations
Management perform annualimpairment reviews using forecasted future cash flows for eacn Cash generating un t,
the key assurnptions included within the forecasts are nnote 8
Management also perform a sensitivity analysis over these key assumptions Lo ensure they are reasonable anc in ling
with histoncal experience and applicable crcumstances

e Fairvalues
Management consider the far values of the identifiahle assets and hiabllities for each new business combinat o, The
fair values of any intangible assets recognised are considered indiv.dually The imethod of valuing mlangble assets
deperids upon the class of asset to be recegrised. Management nave used a discounted casn flow analysis to
aetermine the fair value of Intanginle assets recognised as part of the busness combination,

s FProwvision for expected credit losses of trade receivables ana cantract assets
Managernent use a prowvis on matns to calculate ECLs for trade recervables and contract assets. The provision

miatrix 1S based on the Group's historical observed default rates, and the days past due for customers Lha: Fave
similar loss patterns (e, by geogranhy. precuct type and customer type).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Accounting policies {continued)

Fovargny crrrency transigtion

The Group consoldated financial statements are presented in sterkng. which 1s also the parenl company functioral
cunency For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and terns included i the financial
statements of eacn entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions n foreign currencies are translated to the respective tunctional currencies of Group entitles gl the
foreign exchange rate ruling a* the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and habilities denominated in foreign
currencies af the balance shee! date are retranslated to the functronal currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling
at that cate. Foreign exchange differences ansing ontransiationare recognised in the income statement.

Non-moenetary assets and liabilities that are measured i terms of festonical cost in a foregn currency ave translated
Lsing the excharge rate at the date of the transaction. Non-rnonetary assets and hanihves denominated i foreign
currencies that are stated at far value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates the far value was dotermined

The assets arc liabilities of foreign operations. ncluding qoodwili and fait value adjustiments ansing on consolidation,
are lranslated to the Group's presentationat currency, Sterling, et foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
cate Therevenues and expenses of foreign operations are trarslated at an average rate for the year where thisrate
approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

Exchange differences ansing from this translation of foreign operations are reported as an item of other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign exchange reserve On disposal of a foreign operation. the
component of cther comprohensive Income relating Lo that particular fureign operation s recognised inthe profit or
ioss.

Any goodwill ansing on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any far value adustrments to the carrying amounts
nf assets and Fabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liablitties of the foreigr operation and
translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the reporting date.

Dernvatne fnancal instriments
Donvative financial mstrumeants are recogrised at far value. The gain or loss on measurement to fair value 1s
recognisec immediately in the income staterment.

Naon dernvative financiz! instruments
Non-denvative firancial nstruments comprnise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, lpans and
boirow ngs, and trade and other payables.

{rade and othor rocenables
Tradde and other recewables are recognised initially at transacuon price Subsequent to ntial recognition they are
maasured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any imparment losses.

Trade ang other paysbles
Trade and other payables are recognised imitially at fair value. Subsequent toinitisl recogrition they are measured at

arorbised cost using the effective Interest method
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

Accounting policies (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at har«s and on hand and short-term deposits with a rmaturity of 3 menths
or less which are subject to an insigrificant nsk in changes invalue.

interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognised infally at tar value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognilion. interest-beanng loans and borrowings are stated at amortised cost usirg the
effective nterest method

Property, plant and equipment
Property. plant and equiprment are stated at costless accurmulated depreciation and accumulated mpawrment iosses.

Depreciation s charged to the income statement on a straight -line basis over the estimated uscful lives of each
part of anitem of property. plant and equipment. The estimated usefulbves are as follows

- Leasenoldimprovements over 5 years
«  Fixtures and fithings aver 4 years
« Equipment aver 2 years

Depreciation methaods, useful ives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

Business combinations

The Group uses the purchase method of accountig for the acquisition of a subsidiary. The cost of tne acquisition s
measured by the far value of consideration transferred. Costs directly attnibutable to the acquisition are expensed
N the period inwhich they arcincurred. Consiceration that s contingent cn certam targets being met s analysed by
managemant and recorded either as a contingent lability measured at farr value or gs deferred remuneration for

services depending on the nature of the agreement.

ldentifiable assets acquired and habilities in a business combination are measured mitially at they fan values at the
acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisihion aver the farr value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
1s recorded as goodwil Following the intial recognit on on the fair values determined in business combirnation,
there should be no significant impact on the asset values in the suhsequent years.

intangible assets
Good.vil
The Group measures goodw.ll at the accuisition date as
+  thefarvalue of the consideration transferred, plus

the net recognised amaount (generally far value) of the identifiable assets acquired and labilities assumed
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Accounting policies {continued)

botongibie assels {continued)
Internaily gonorated intanagibles
Annternally generated inlanghle asset ansi g from the development of settware s cecognised only if all of the
fallowing condifions are me:x.
- tisorehable that the asset will create future economic benefits,
. Tho cevelopment costs can be measured reliably,
+ Thetechnical feasility of cormpleung the intangible asset can be demenstrated.
- Threreisthointention Lo complete the asset and use or sell it
+ Thercisthe abikty to use or sellthe asset; ana
. Adequale tochnical firancial. and other resources to cormplete the development and to Use or sellthe
asset are avalable.

Where no infangible asset can he recogrused. development expenditure s charged Lo the income statement in the
rer odinwhichit isincurrec.

Suhsequent to intial recagnition. intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation ang
accumiulated imparment losses. Amortisation of an internally generated intangible asset begis when develooment
15 complete, and the asset s availzble for use and amortisation 1s provided to write off the cost of each ntangibte
asset overits usetul economic ife of 3 years.

Research expenditure s recognised as an expense in the pernod inwhichitis incurred.

Intangibles acciared as part of 8 business cormbination

InaccordancowithIFRS 3 'Business Combinations’. anintangible asset acquired in abusiness combination s deemed
tobave z cost tothe Group of its fair value at the acgusition dale. The fair value of the intangible asset reflects market
exncctations 20out the probabiity that the future econormic benefits embodied n the asset wall flow to the Group.
Su
accumulztedimpairment losses. Intangible assets are armortised over penods of 3 years for software, between 3 ana
T years for ntelleciual property, between 10 and 20 years for customer relat onships and between 10 and 20 years
tor Brancl.

bseqguent to irmhial recoanition, inlanghles assets are reported at cost less zccumulated amortisaton ard

fventories

Ihventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, after raking due allowance for obsolete and sfow-
moying tems Net realisable value 1s the estimated selhing price in the ordinary course of business, less estirmated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale,

[ valla ol financialinstruments

Wherthe fair value of financial assets and financial labilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be
derved from active markets, thar fan value 1s determmned using valuation technigues incluc:ng the discounted cash
flow medel. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this 1 not
feasible adegree of judgement 1s required In establishing fair values. Estimation uncertarties anse from assurmptions

on higuidity nisk. credit risk and volatiity, Charges in assurnptions about these factars codld affect the far value of
financialinstruments.
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Notes to the consclidated financial statements (continued)

Accounting policies (continued)

Impairmernt of financial nstruments
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss needs to account for expectad losses on initial
recognitian, and be remeasurad at each reporuing date.

Anmpairment toss N respect of a financizl asset measured at amortised cost 1s calculated as the next 12-month
expaected credit losses. Credit losses are the difference betweon the PY of all contractual cashilows ang the PV ol
expected future cash flows. discounted at the asset's original effectve iInterest rate Subsequently. if the credit nsk
of the financial instrument increases significantly. the full hfetime of expected losses would be used. When a
subsequent event causes the amount of imparrment Joss 1o decrease, the decrease in rmparment 10ss 15 reversed
throughhncome statemeant.

impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-finanaial assets, otner than inventones and deferred Lax assets. are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there 15 any indication of Impairment. If any such indication
exists, thon the assel’s recoverable amount 1s estimated.

The goodwil accured in a business combination, for the surpose of IMpairment testing, 15 sllocated Lo cash-
generating units, or "CGU". For the purposes of goodwill imparrment testing. CGUs to which goodwill has been
allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment 1s tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwillis
monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwll acqguired m a business combination 1s allocated to groups o
CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit 1s the greater of its value in use and Ils Tarr value fess
costs to sell Inassessing value inuse, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to therr present value using
post-lax ciscount rate that reflects current marker assessments of the time value of money and the risks speaiic to
the asset. For the purpose of imparment testing, assets that cannot be tested inavidually are grouped together o
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that arelargely indepencent of the cash
inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generaung unit”),

Anmparment loss s recogrused if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverszble
armount. Imparment losses are recognised in profit or loss, Imparment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are
allocatea first 1o reduce the carrying amaount of any goodwall zllocated to the units, and then to reauce the carrying
amounts of the other assets inthe unit (group of units) on a prorata basis.

Animparment loss in respect of goodwll is not reversed. Inrespect of other assets imparment fosses recogmsed n
prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has gecreasec o7 no longer exists
Ar tmparrment loss 1s reversed if there has beon a change in the estimates used o determine the recoverable
amouant. Anarmpairmort loss 15 revessen only 1o the extent that the assels canymng arnount dues "ot exceed the
carry Ng amount that would have beer determinad, net of depreciation or armorusation IFpo imparmerit [oss nad
beenreccgnised

Emplovee bonefit trust (EBT )

The Company operates an EBT over which it has de facto control of the shares held by the trust and bears the
henefits and nisk It therefore records the assets and liabilities and the results and cash flow of the rust as its own
Consderation paid by the trust to acquire the shares in tne Cornpany is decucted inarnving at shareholgers’ tunds

Page 2o
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

Accounting policies {continued)

Newi-reciering costs

The Group prosents non-recurring costs on the face of the income statement. these are material items of Income
and oxpense. whicnhecause of the nature and expected infrequency of the events gving nise Lo them, ment separate
presentaucn to allow shareholders to understand better the elements of financial perforrmance for the year. so as to
facilitate comaanson with prior periods and to assess better trends in financial perfonmance.,

Proforerico shares
Preferenca shares whicn are mandatorly redeemabie on a specific date, are classified as habilities The divderds on
these prefe-once shares are taken to the iIncome statement as finance expense.

Revandie
Revenuo represents tne far value of the consideration receved or receivable from the sales of software and related
suppoct and maintepance 1T equipment and professional services, net of discounts and sales taxes.

Rovenue 1s recoqnised when Lhe Group hias fulfilled its performance obligations under the relevant customer
contraci The Group sells a number of products which typically consists of all. or same, of the following types of
revenue —licenced products, support and maintenance. subscriptions, IT herdware sales, and professional services.
Where the contract includes multiple elernents, the tair value of those elements s based on the relative stand-alone
seling prices, Revenue s recognised either when the performance obligationin the contract has been performed (so
‘pamt in tme’ recognition) or lover time' as controb of the performance obligation s transferred to the customer.

To the extent that invoices are raised Lo a different pattern than the revenue recognition described below,
appropriawe adpistments are made through deferred and accrued imcome to account for revenue when the
performance obligations have been met.

Tha Group has arrangements with some of its chients whereby it needs Lo determine ifit acts as a principal or an agent.
asmore than one party s involved in providing the goods end services to the customer. The Group acts as a prinaipal
if 1t controls a premised good of sarvice before transferring that good or service Lo the customer. The Group 1s an
agent ifits role s Lo arrange for anotner entity Lo provide the goods or services. Factors considered in making this
assessinant are most notably the discretion the Group has mestabl.shing the price for the specified good or service,
whether the Group has imventory risk and whether the Groupis primerily responsible for fulfilling the promise to deliver
the service ar good, Where the Group is acting as @ prinapal revenue ts recorded on a gross basis. Where the Group
is acting as anagent revenue is recorded at o net amount reflecting the margin earnec.

Revenue Recognition by Revenue Type

fal Support Revernue

The revenue from centracts for software mantenance and support s recognised on a pro rata basis over the
contract period. reflecting the Group's obligationto support the relevant software procducts and update theirr content
over the contract serod

(bl Susscriptions 'SaaS revenue
Saas products ara only hasted by BigHand and the customer s provided access to the software over the internet.

These procucts are delvered to the customer as a service over time and no support and maintenance 15 charged as
the single suoscnption fee covers this.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

Accounting policies (continued)

(c) Licencerevenue
The Group licences software under non-cancellable icence agreements on a perpetuel bass. Performance
obligations are considered to be met. and revenueisrecognised. when a non-cancellable kcence agreement has
been signed and the software has been made avallable to tha customer, except for where there are uncertainties
surrouncing product acceptance or there are significant vendor obhgations. When this anses revenue
recognition s deferred until all matenal obligations are satisfied. For the majonty of contracls, this resulls m
licenc e revenues being recognised mn full at the start of the contract.

(d} Servicesrevenue
Revenue from professional services (whichincludes software implementation, training anc consultancy services)
s recogrused In the accounting perniod N which the services are delivered. For fixed -price contracts, reverue s
recognised based on the actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total
services to be provided {percentage of completion method). Percentage completion s estirmated based on the
total number of hours performed on the project compared to the total number of hours expected to complete
the project. Estimates of completcn are revisedhif circumstlances change

(e} IT hardware revenue - revenue from the sale of IT equipment s recognised when tne control of the assel has
transferred to the buyer, which 15 tne date the equipment is delvered and accepted by the customer.

Leascs

As alessee

The Group leases vanous offices and some equicrment. At the incept:on of a contracl, the Group assess whethor a
contractis, or containg, alease. A contract 1s, or contans, alease f the contract conveys the right Lo control tne use
of anidentified asset for a period of time 1n excnarge for consideration

The Grouprecognises a nght-of-use asset and a corresponding lease hability at the lease commencement date. The
right~of-use asset s nitially measured at cost. which comprses tho mitial amaount of the lease labiily plis any ribiat

direct costsincurrad less any lease incentives received.

The nght of use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-ine method from the commencement date to

the earlier of the end of the usefulliife of the nght-of-use asset ¢r the end of the lease term. The estmated usefu
Ives of nght-of-use assots are aeterrmined on the same basis as those of property and equipment.

The lease liablity s nitially measured at the preser: value of the lease payments thet are rot paid at tne
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the fease. or if that rate carnot be readily
determined. the Group's mcremental horrowing rate. Gencrally. the Group Lses its incremertal borrewing rate as
the discountrate.

Forleases acquired through business acquisition, the lease ability is measured a5 fit were 2 new lease {reassessing

its term, lease payments) and the nght of use assetis measured at the marketrate at the point of acquisition.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Accounting policies {continued)

{ eascs continued!

The lease liahility 1s measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. tisrerreasured when thereis @
chiango in future lease payments arising from a charge n an ndex or rate, or thereis achangeinthe Group's estimate
of the amount expected ta be payable under a residual value guarantee, orif the Group changes its assessment of
whether i wll exercise a purchase, extension of termimmation option.

Tre Group presents the nght-of-use assets that are Investment property in ‘property. plant and eguipment’ and
leaso kabilities in toans and borrowings’ in the staterment of finaricial position.

Short fermieases and leases oflow -value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise nignt-of-use assets and legse liabilities for short-term leases of machinery
that have alease term of 12 months orlessandleases of low-value assets. The Group recognises the lease payments
associatedwith these leases as an expense on a straight-Iine basis over the lease term,

favation

Taxorthe profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax and is recognised nthe income statement.

Current tax assets and habilibies are measured at the expected amount to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorites based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Teferred taxis provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and lizbiities for financzl
reparting purpases and the amounts used for taxation purposes The following temparary differences are not.
provided for the inhial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or llablibes that affect nether
accourtng or taxable profit other than in a busmess combination, and differences relating to Investrments in
subsidiaries to the exient that can be controlled and that they will probably not reverse inthe foreseeable future. Tre
amount of deferred tax providedis hased on the expected manner of realisation or settlerment of the carrying amount
of assets and lab hties. using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

A deferred Lax asset 1s recognised only 1o the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profits will be avalable
against which the ternporary ditference can be utilised
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

2 Revenue
2023 2022
£'000 {000
Support revenue 30,032 27,605
Subscription revenue 14,878 5049
Total recurring revenue 44910 27.644
Licencerevenue 3.434 399¢
Servicesrevenue 5.314 3,700
IT hardware revenue 252 526
Other 282 279
Total revenue 54,192 35945
3 Operating Loss
COperating Ioss has been arrived at atter chargmg:
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Research and development expensed as incurred 2,539 2434
Depreciation on property. nlant and equipment frore &) 469 425
Depreciation onright-ol-use assets (note 7/ 420 497
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 8/ 12.461 3,429
Employee costs fnote 3/ 23,313 14,840
Non-recurring costs 2914 5339

FY23 Non-recurrng costs comprise fees associated with charges relaung to deferred remuneratior and cuntingent
considerzruion of previously acquired subsidianes (£0.9m;, restructunng costs (£0.8m), the mtegration of Indiuin (ED 2. *ces
associated wath the acquisition of Diglory | egal (F0 2m). ana other strategicinibatves (£ 0.5m)

FY22 MNon-recurnng costs comprise fees associated witn the acquisition anc integration ot Ir dium (£3 9m1), cnarges relating Lo

deferredremuneration and contingent consideration of previously acquired subsicianies (EQ.6m), restructunng costs (F0 3n] and
olnerstrategic ntiatives (E0.5m).

Avuaitor's remuncration.

2023 2022

£'000 £'C00
Amounts recevable by the Company's auditor and its associates inrespect of
Audit of these tinancial statements 168 _86
Total audit services 198 186
Tax compliance services 64 45
Patent tax work 7 -
Covenant compliance reporting 12 11
Other 5 -

Totalnon-audit services 88 57
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

EBITOA and aujustod £68/7T0A:

EBITDA ‘s not a financial measure defined by IFRS as o measurerment of financ’al performance. The Group's
rmanagoment believe that EBITDA {Earmings before Interest, Tax, Deprecistion and Amorusation) and adjusted
EBITDA (EBITDA plus non-recurnng iterns ncluding acquisiton related costs) are meaningful for investors because
they provice an analysis of operating results and prof tabiity using the sarme measures used by management.

4 Staff numbers & costs including directors

Staffnumbers and costs

The average number of persons employed by the Group Gricluding directors] during the penod, analysed by

rategory. was as follows

Number of Number of
employees ermployecs
2023 2022
Admir:stration 120 58
Operatons 194 141
314 239
The agoregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Wages and salares 20,322 12,901
Somal secunty costs 2,420 1,546
Zontnbutions to defined contribution plans 571 393
23,313 14,840
The Group oserates 2 numher of defined contrnibution pension plans but has no defined berefit plens in place
Lrrectors Short-term employee benetits
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
The arectors aqgregate Short-tenm ermployee benefits in respect of qualifving
sarnices was!
Short-term emplovee benefits recevable 340 310
Post-ermployment pension and medical benehts 6 6
Short-tarm omployee benasfits of highest paid director:
Totzl Shori-term ernployea benefits 200 200
Post-errployment pension and medical benefits 4 3

Direczars receved £2,642 defined contribution pension plar payments i the year (2022 £2.642). Two of the
drrectorswho served the company duning the year are paid by the ultimate controfling party, Levine Lechtrman Capital
Partners znd two other directors are paid for by a subs:diary, BigHand UK Bidco Limited The fellow companies bave
not recharged any amount to the company on the basis that the amount attribuiable to the company 1s neglgble.
The directors do not beliove that itis practical to apportion the remuneration for therr qualfying services betwaen
rernuneration as cirectors of the Cormpeny and ther rermuneration as directors of the fellow subsidiary companies.

BigHand
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Finance Income and Expense
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Finance income
Bank interest recevable (3) -
Total finance income (3) -
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Finance expense
l.ease Interest 45 93
Bank loan interest 10,253 56016
Prefercnice Share interest 23,208 14101
Revolving Credit Facllity & Monitoring feas 42 323
Amortisation of debtissue cost 9032 1.125
Unwind of discount on deferred remureration 81 (28)
Foreign exchange gain / (loss} (167) 713

Total finance expense 34,365 21,948
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

6 Taxation
2023 2022
£'000 £000
Current Tax Expense
Current Period 176 37
Adjustrnent for Prior Years 825 465
Curromt Tax Exponco 1,001 10
Deferred Tax Expense
Orngination & reversal of temporary differences (2,934) 1.451
Adjustment tor Prior Years 2.225 (1.290)
Deferred Tax Expense {709} 201
Total Tax Expense 252 603
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Factors affectingtax charge
Loss excluding taxation (30.572) (23.342)
Tax using the UK corporation taxrate of 19% (2022, 19%) {5,809) {4.435)
Effect of tax rates inforeign jurisdictions 41 7
Urusedtaxlosses - 9812
Preference share dividend non-deductible 4,409 2579
Non-deductible expenses 161 1284
Tax lover) / under provision In onor years 3.028 {925)
Deductible ternparary arfferences {2,354) 1912
Rezearch and Development Expenditure Credit adjustrment 83 -
Releffrom LUK Patont Box electior 297 (486)
Corporate Interest Rastriction 873 -
IFA expenditure treated as R&D (519) {405)
Other 82 {(17)
292 503

The main faclor affecting future tax charges s the increase in the tax rate from 19% to 25%, the mamn corporation
texrate wll ba effective from 19 April 2023, The deferred tax assets and labilities having been measured at the rates
at which they are expectedtoreverse,

BigHand
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

7 Property. plant and eguipment
Leasehold Fixtures and
mprovement Fittings Equipment ~otal
£'000 £'000 £'00C £'000
Cost
Balance at 1 April 2021 432 55 294 781
Adaitiors 18 - 462 480
Disposals (98) (36) (198) {332]
Effect of mavements in foraign exchange - 2 8 10
Balance at 31 March 2022 352 21 566 939
Additions - - 30/ 307
Disposals [(22) - (259) (281)
Effect of movements in fororgn exchange - 3 14 17
Balance at 31 March 2023 330 24 628 882
_Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 April 2021 51 12 106 169
Depreciation charge for the year 114 25 236 424
Disposals (a8} (36) 1196) 1330)
Etfect of movernenis in foreign exchange - Z 8 10
Balance at 31 March 2022 67 3 204 274
Depreciation charge for the year 104 15 350 469
Disposuls {18) - {259) 1277)
Effect of rmovementisin foreign exchange - 2 10 12
Balance at 31 March 2023 153 20 305 478
_Net book value
At 31 March 2022 285 18 362 H65
At 31 March 2023 177 4 323 504

BigHand
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

8 [.eases

Amiounts recognised in the halance sieer

The balance sheef shows the followirig amounts relating to leases

A1 Magrch 7073

Buldings  Eguipment 2023 20272
£'000 C'00G
Right-of-use assets
Balanceaz ai 1 April 1094 20 1,114 1547
Aaditions 41 - 41 39
Deprociation charge for the year (411} (9} (420) (497)
D.sposals or adjusiments [32) - (32) 12
Effect of mover-ents in foreign exchange {25) - (25) 12
Balance as at 31 March 667 11 678 1.114
2023 2022
£000 £'000
Lease liabilities

Lessihanoneyear 432 487
Onetofive years 411 755
843 1,282

Amaounis recogrised in the income statement

The Group Ieases a number of office bullding facilities.
shows Lhe follwing amounts relating Lo leases

They are classificd according 1o IFR516 leases. The income

2023 2022
£'000 £000
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Buildings (411} (489}
Equiprrient {5) 8]
(420) [497)
Interest expense includedin finance costs) 415 98

The total cash outflow for leases in the vear was £484k (FY22° £514k).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

9 intangible Assets

Customier  intellectual

Goodwll Brand Software relationshups Property Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000

Cost and valuation
Balance at 1 April 2021 89,621 1.992 2,319 78,180 9,787 181,899
Acquisition of subsidiary 82,709 335 - 32,232 4478 119754
Additions - - 5611 - - 5611
Disposals or acjustments . - - (97 4) (27) - (1.001)
Effect of movements inforeign exchange 1,212 3 17 275 (5) 1502
Balance at 31 March 2022 173,542 2.330 6,973 110.660 14260 307,765
Acquisition of subsidary 1.877 - - 394 2271
Aaditions - - S.785 - - 9785
Disposals or adjustments - - (823} - - (823)
Effect of movementsin foreign exchange 1529 - (14} 40 359 2314
Balance at 21 March 2023 177.348 2,330 15921 110,700 15013 321,312
Amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 Aprii 2021 - a7 199 1,866 778 2,891
Armortisation for the vear - 105 2289 4262 L1773 8.429
Disposals or adjustments - - (374) - - (974)
Effect of movementsinforeign exchange - - - (11) 1 (10)
Balance at 31 March 2022 - 152 1.514 6.117 2,553 10,336
Amorusaticon for the vear - 137 4342 5.748 2254 12,461
Disposals or adjustments - - (823) - - {823)
Effect of movements inforeign excnange - - - 14 2 16
Balance at 31 March 2023 - 289 5,033 11,879 4785 21590
Net book value
At 31 March 2022 173542 2178 5,459 104,543 11,707 297,429
At 31 March 2023 177,348 2,041 10.888 98,821 10,224 299,322

Intangible assets comprise both assets ansing from cests incurred to develop software and mtangibles acgured
through business combinations. Intangibles assets are amortised over periods of 3 years for software, oetweer 3
and 10 years for intellectual property. between 10 and 20 years for customer relationships anc between 10 and 20
years for Brand

i
-~

Inthe year enced 31 March 2023 the Groun capitalised any internally generated softwareresearcn and developrr
costswhich nave met the requirements of IAS 38 'Intangible Assefs’ these amounts are mcluded within tae sofiware
additions

L
T
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

Asset piirchase from Digitory Legal Corporation

On 19tk Auguss 2027, BigHand Inc, a subsidiary in the Group acquired the assets of Digitory Legal Corporation. o
company imcorporated and domicled n the United States. The acquisition s expected to enhance the Group's
exising business trirough the addition of talented and expenenced statt and a complimentary software solution
which further conschdates the Group's position in the legal technology market.

The fair values of the 2ssets and habilities acquired are set out below
G VAILES racoginsed 3t SCQLISEON

- r£000/
Assets
Intangibles Agsets™ 394
Trade anc other receivables 24
Liabilities
Trade ard other payables (15}
Deforrod tax™ (110}
Fair value of net assets acquired 293
Geodwilt on accuisition 1877
Totalcansideratior 2170

Mntanogible assets include Intellectual Property [P wdentitied on business combrnation armounting to £394k
amort sed over a period of 10 years, As a result of recognitior of the intangible assets as part o! the acquisition, a
dofer-ed taxliab ity arses of £110k

The post-acquisition trade of the Inchium Group 15 now bemng concucted out of BigHand subsidiaries The
performence of the Digitory Legahis not managed and reviewed separately, hence disclosure inrespect of revenue
and profit of Digitery Legal since it was acyured s not incuded.

Koy assimptions used in discounted cash flow projection calculations

The recoverable amaount of the group has beer determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projectiors  Projected cash flows are calculsted with reference 1o the group's business plan and subject to
management review. The busmess plan 1s prepared with detaled knowledyge of the current ciient base, the growth
aspirations, and the markets in which the group operates . The year 1 cash flow projections are based on detailed
and approved financial budgets and years 2 1o 5 onan outlock prepared by management.

The key assumptions used.
1 CGU s used as there s a significant interdependence between the cashinflows with all areas of the business
being reliant onthe London office Lo complete sale, prowvide service delivery and provide angoing support to
customers
Growihratos of between 9% to 22% in years 1 to 5 and then 6% after 5 years m perpetuity
Disconntrate used of 12%
EBITDA marg ns of botween 36% to 39%,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

9 Intangible assets (continued)

Discount rates used

Management estimates discount rates using post-tax rates that reflect current market gssessrments of the time
value of money. In assessing the discount rate, the following factors have heen considered.

+  Theleng-term UK treasury bonds

- Trecostof equity based on an adjusted Beta

«  Thenskprermurm toreflect theincreased nsk of Investing in equities

Sensitivity analysis

The mparment review done by management is sensitive to changing assumptions. The sensitivity which
management have performedis to increase WACC by 50 basis points (to 12.5%), no growth n EBITDA, and &
reduction in cash flows by 5% nyears 1 to 5. Evenin this unlikely event no impairment would be recognised.

10 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
31 March 2023 1 Aprd Recogmsedin Deferred taxes
2022 INCGMe acquired in business 31 March 2023
£060 £:000 combinations £'000 £000
Moverment in the year
Tax value of losses carry-forwards 4,565 (2.210) ~ 2,355
CIR - unused interost capacity 1.654 1,134 - 2,788
Lease 42 (1} - 41
Non-operating losses - 310 310
Deferred tax asset 6.261 (767) - 5.494
Movement in the year
Property, plant and equipment (497) (374] - (871)
Intangible assets (29.745) 1.858 (110) {27.996)
Deferred tax hability [30.242) 1.485 (110) {28,867}
31 March 2022 1 April Recagnisedin Deferred taxes
2021 mncome acquired N business 31 March 2022
£'000 £'000 corrbinations £'000 €000
Moverment in the year
Taxvalue oflosses carry-forwards 2.061 2.504 - 4 565
CIR - unused interest capacity 235 1.418 - 154
Lease 29 13 - 4
Deferrea tax asset 2.325 3938 - G261
Movernent in the year
Property, plant and equipment (415) (82} - [a97)
Intangible assets (16.510) {(4.122] (2.113) (29 745)
Deferred Lax hability (16.925) (4,204} (9.113) (20,2421

BigHand
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {(continued)

11 Trade and other receivables
2023 2027
£'000 £000
Trade and ather recevablos 7.235 10.5351
Accruedincaome 1.992 1.309
Prapayrments 2,551 1676
11,778 13326
12 Cash and cash equivalents
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Cashand cash equivalerts 8,212 13,346
(C3sh and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank onfy.
13 Trade and other payables
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Trace and other payaoles 2,911 2003
Othertaxation and sacial secunty 445 900
Deferredincorne 28,712 27396
Accrlals 1,157 2.470
Deoferred remuaneration 795 338
Contngent hability 555 27
34,575 33734

Deferred remineration comprises remuneration ansing from the acquisition. of Mason & Cook Ltd of £795k, The
contngent lanility comprises consideration arising from acquisition of Mason & Coak Ltd acquisition of £94k, and
consderat.on arising from acquisition of Digitory Legal of £461k.

FY22 compnsed deforred remuneration ansing from the acquisition of Mason & Cook Ltd of £224k and bornus’ of
{11k ansing from the acquisition of Iridium Techncloay Holdings (which were paid following the year end to eligible

staff in June 2022). The contingent liability comprises consideration ansing from acquisition Mason & Cook Lt
acquisition of £27k.

BigHand
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

14 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group's nterest-bearing loans and borrow ngs,
which are measured at armortised cest. For moreinformation about the Group's exposure tointerest rate and foreign
currency risk, seenote 17.

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans 101,000 28515
10% Subordinated loan notes 19,993 19,993
12% Preferance shares classified as debt 174,172 1732710
Preference dvidend 43,003 19,7945
Bank facity fee - {885)
338,168 411,230
Current liabilities
Interest on secured bank loans 9 447
9 431

Bank loans and Freference Shares

Existing bank loans in BigHand UK Ridco Ltd compnse a £57.5m term loan with Barngs which has a neatunty date of
15 January 2028, a fxedinterest charge of 5.5% and a floaling charge linkea to SONIA anaa {43.5minUSD($53.9m)
from Barngs which has the same maturity date and interest cnarges.

The borrowings include a finarcal covenant consisting af a leverage ratio rmit of 6.92 for the periad. It alsu rids credin
facility of £E5mwith NatWest available unul 13 July 2027

The existing subordinated loan notes in BigHana UK Holdco Ltd comprises of £19.2m of loan note A and L0.8m of
loannote B Both of theloan notes arc subjected to 10% fixed rate mterest, and the interest 1s paid on montnly basis.
The loan notes mature cn 13 Apnl 2028 and are isted on The International Stock Exchange ("TISE”™)

The revolving credit facility (RCF of £5m (2022 £5) remained :in placein 2023, The Group mamtained a postive
cash position throughout the year and did not draw on the RCF.

15 Share Capital
12% curmnulative Ordinary shares
redeemable preference
shares
Inthousands of shares 2023 2022 2023 2022
Onissue gt 1 Apri 173,710 1071 .887 13 10
Issued for cash 462 71.823 - 3
Onassue at 37 March —fully paict 174,172 173710 13 14

Fage <0

BigHand
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

15 Share Capital (continued)
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Allotted, calted up and fully paid
1080 110 Aordirary shares of £0.01 each (FY22 1.089.110) 11 11
50,622 B ordinory chares of C0.01 coch (Y22 48.210) - -
50,000 C1 ardnary shares of £0.01 each (FY22 50.000] 1 1
131,500 C2 ordinary shares of £0.01 each (FY22 119.500) 1 1
12% cumulative redeemable Preference Shares issued 2L £0 01 each 174,172 173710
174,185 173723
Shares classified in shareholders' funds as equities 13 13
Shares classified as labilities 174,172 173.710
174,185 173723

Post halance sreot date. on 11th Aprd 2023 11,000 C2 shares of £0.01 gach wereissued (at £1,50 per share).

Cvagmary shares

The mannghts attaching to the ordinary shares are as follows

Voting rights

Ona snew of hards and cn poll. each holder of class A, class B, class Cl ordinary shares who s present shall have
onevote, The holders of C2 ordinary shares are not entitled to vote, "eceive notice nor atlend or speak at any
general maetings.

Distributions (including dnadends) and return of capital
Onall distrioutions including a returr of capital on a hguidation, but excluding a redemption of or purchase by the
company of ts own shares) (the "Ordinary Distributions”). the assets of the coripany remaiming after the payment

ofits babiities shall be distributed among the holders of class AL class B class C1 and class C2 ordinary shares (the
"Ordinary Shares") pro rata based on the number of Grdinery Shares held by each such holder, provided that such
Ordimary Distributiors shall. inrespect of any class B ordinary shares held by any Bad Leaver or Very Bad Leaver las
defined ir the articles). be capped at a maxirurn value (with any greater amount that would othernwise have been
dlseates to such Bad Leaver or Very Bad Legver in respect of such dass B ordingry sharces being allocsied amongst
the remairing holders of the Ordinary Shares pari pessu as If the same constituted one class of share)

Eiororence shares

The creference shares are redeemable anc have a par value of E0.01 ard are éllotted for £0.01 per share. The
preference shares carry an enttlernent to preference avidend at the rate of 12% per share per anrum,
cormpounded annually on 12 October each year. T ne cormpany may. at any time, redeerr allor seme of the

Proference Shares theninissua. The preference shares anc the preference share dividends would be redeemable
wpon the sale of BigHand UK Topco Limited (the ultimate holding company of the Group! ar by the shareholder and
third-party financers agreement.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

15 Share Capital (continued)
Reserves
Nature and purpose of reserves!
+ Retaned Earnings — comprises the accumulated retamed profits from current and prior periods.
e Share Premiurn Reserve - comprises hustoncal premiums paid above the nominal value of equity shares
Issued,
o Foregn Exchange Reserve — comprises net exchange differences recognised in other comprehensive
income and accurnulated over current and prior periads.
»  Employee Benelit Trust - The Company sponsors an Employee Benefit Trust nwhich 1t holds the snares.
Attne palance sheet date 6.347 ordinary B shares arnd 19.500 ordinary CZ shares were neld by the " rust.

16 Financial instruments

The Group's financial instruments cormprise cash and cash equivalents, receivables. borrowings and payables
These allanse directly from the Group's operations. As disclosed below, the Group nas in place foreign exchange
contracts to ijefp rmanage its nterast rate and foreign excnarage rsk.

Fairvalues

The table below analyses financial mstrumeants. into a far value hierarchy based on the valLation technigue uses to

determing far value.

- Level 1 quotea lunadjusted prices in active markets for :dentical assets or iabilities).

+  Lovel 2 other techrnegues for which all inputs that nave a significant effect onthe recerded farr value are
observable, cither directly orindirecrly

. Level 3 technigues that use inputs that have a significant effect onthe recorded farr value, which are not based
upon observabie market data.

There have been no transfers betweorn Leve! 1 ana Level 2 during the period.

The fair values of all financizl assets and financial labilities by class together wth their carrying amounis showninthe
halance sheetl are as follows

Carrying Carrying
amount armaount
2023 2077
£'000 000
Loans and other receivables

| Cash and cash eqgu.valents tnote 13) 8.212 13,3156
Other lcans and receivables (note 12) 11,778 13336
Totalfinancial assets 19,990 26.687

‘ Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
| Interest-beanng loans and borrowings (note 15) 338,168 511,230
Trade and athor payables (note 14) 5863 5738
Total financial liabilities 344,031 71le.563

There s no maternal difference betweer the book value and the “ar val.e of these f nancial assets and habilities

BigHand
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Financial instruments {continued)
Crecit nsi

sonancia! Fsk managemeont

Credit risk s the nisk of financialloss to Lhe Group il a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument falls to rmeet
I's contractual obligations and anses principslly from the Group's recevables from custormers and investment
secitties,

Ir order to rnimise this nsk. the Group endeavours only to dea! with companies and public sector hodies which are
demaenstrably croditworthy anc this, together with the aggregate exposure, s continuously monitored. The group
had no customers who represented more than 10% of the trade recervables balance as at 31 March 2023,

Exp0siiro 1O Creait sk

The carrying smount of financial assets represents the maximurn credit exposure, therefore, the maxirmum
exposure to credit nsk at the balance sheet date was £11.778,000(FY22 E13.3356,000) being the total of the gross
carrying amount af financial assets. excluding equity nvestments and cash and cash eguivalents, shownin the table
below

Creat quality of financial assets and expected credit fosses

The agihg of trarde receivables at the balance sheet date was

Expected Expected

Gross CreditLoss Gross Credit Loss

2023 2023 2022 2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Mot past due 4,254 - 6,495 -
Past due 0-30 days 1,254 - 1620 -
Past due 41-90 days 1.011 - 959 -
Morethan 90 davs 692 (363} 1.259 (537)
7.211 (363) 10.333 (537)

The movernert inthe allowance for expected credit losses nrespect of trade receivables duning the period was as

follows:

2023 2022

£'000 £'000
Balance at 1 April 537 440
Acquired n the year 110 149
Additions in the year - 1323
Lthsedinthe year {284) {185)
Balance ai 31 March 363 537

The allowance account for trade recevables 1s used Lo record excected credit losses unless the Group s satisfied
that no recovery of the amount owing s possible, at that vaint the amounts considered irrecoverable are written off
Ayamst the trade recevables directly

 BigHand
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Financial instruments {(continued)
Market risk
Financial risk management

Market nskis the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates. interest rates and eguity prices
will affect tne Group's incorme or the value of its holaings of financial instruments.

The Group manage the exposure of rarket risk ny putting in place forward contracts for foreign carrency (entered
and closed within the year) at pre-determined rates at the estimated amount of funds to be repatr ated from tne
overseas subsidiarics (USA. Canada. Australia and Europe). A £222k loss (FY22. £238k loss) arose from these
contracts and s recorded within the foraign exchange losses classificauonin the PAL.

Foreigri currency risk

The Group's exposure to foreign currency nisk s as follows. This 15 hased on the carrying amourt for inonetary
financal instruments except dervatives

31 March 2023

Canadian Australian New Zealand
Dollar furo US Dollar Dollar Daollar Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cash and cash equivalents 652 560 3.327 1,704 3 . 340
Trade recewvables 305 194 4,005 307 45 4,846
Trade payablas (=4 (355) (294) (21} - (694)
Intorest-bearnng loans - - (43.500) - - (-13,500)
Net exposure 943 499 (36,162} 1.580 58 (23.002)
A1 March 2022
Canadian Austrakan  New Zesland
Daollar Eure US Daollar Dallar Daollar Total
£°000 E'0O00 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cashand cash equivalents 871 1,088 3652 1,507 75 6,973
Trade recevables 213 142 4.645 743 32 549Yh
Trade payables (1} (341) (150) (324) - (526)
Interest-bearngloans - - (41.116) - - (41 T15)
Not exposure 1,283 889 (22.989) 2016 1a7 28.694)
Sensitivity analysis
The figures above are based on the following closing exchange rates
Closing exchange rates 2023 2022
Eu-o 1.14 17
US Dollar 1.24 131
Canadian Doliar 1.68 1.64
Australian Dollar 1.85 1.75
New Zealand Dollar 197 L.89

BigHand
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

Financial instruments {continued)
For a movement of plus or minus 5% in the above exchanges rates, the carrying values would be changed as set out

below
Resulting change 2023 2027
Eurg 25 44
U3 Dollar 11.843) (1649}
Canadian Dollar 47 64
Autstraban Dollar 59 101
New Zealand Dollar 2 5

Lquiidhtyv risk
Lrquichity sk s the rax that the Group will not pe able to rmeet its financial obligations as they fell due. The provision
of cash for the repayment of day-to-day business comrnitrments 1s carefully monnored and forecasis are made of

fultire cash reguremaonts

The following are the contractual matunties of financial hiabilities

2023 Carrying Effective  Repayment 1-2 Z-5  >»hyears
amount nterest < 1lyear YEHErS vears
rate
£'000 % {'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Seepedbankloan — Senior debl B 101.000 SONIA + - - 101,000 -
5.5%
Securad bank loan — Accrued interest 9 n/a 94917 9908 27,247 -
Suboromated Loan notes 19,993 10%, - - - 19993
Subordinated Loan noles interest - n/a 1999 1.599 5998 -
Proforence snares classified as debt- 217175 12% - - - 217175
Trade and other payanies 5,863 nfa 5863 - - -
_Lensehabiitics 843 n/a 432 284 127 -
344883 18211 12,191 134 3572 237,168
2027 Carrying Effective Repayment 1-2 2-5  >5years
armount nterest < 1ycar vears years
rate
£'000 Yo {'C00 £'000 £'000 £'000
Secured hank loan - Senior deht B8 98,016 SONIA + - - - 95615
5 5%
Sergrod bankloan — Accrued interest 431 n/a 6.526 6.095 18785 4571
Suhordinated Loan rotes 18,593 10% - - - 19.993
Suberdinated Loan rotes interest - n/a 1,999 1.999 5998 1.899
Proforance shares classified as debt- 173710 129% - - - 173,710
Trade and otqer payables 5,738 e 5.738 - - -
Lease labiities 1282 /3 487 587 409 -
299,770 14,750 8 481 24597 798.889

At amalirterest all ne payable in addimion 1o the emounts presented as Preference Sheres dbove after 5 years

BigHand
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Further details an the interest-bear.ng loans and borrowings areincluded nnote 15
Interest rate risk

The Group finances itself through a combination of equity and debt. The Group's borrowings are a mixture of f.xed
rate mstruments (loan notes) and floatng rate borrowings from NatWest and Barings.

2023 2022

£000 £'000

Fixedrateinstruments 19.983 19,943
Fioating rate instruments 101.000 98610
120.993 118,609

A chiange of 100 basis pomits innmterest rates at the balance sheet date would have increased niterest experise by
£1.010.160(2022 £986,180).

Capita/ risk management

The Group's canital comprises ordinary share capital. preference share capital share premium. retained earmngs
foreign exchange reserves and employee benefit trust. The Group has a financial policy to maintain u net leverage
ratio (net debt to adjusted EBITDA) not exceeding 5.92 1. The loverage ratio was 5.84 1 as at 31 March 2023 (2022
496 1)

17 Capital commitments
At the year-end 31 March 2023, the Group had capital commitments of £1.3m (2022 nil) relating to the resale of 3
party software which are contracted for but not provided for in the F.nancial Staterments.

18 Related parties

During the year the directors and key management personnel received preference shares andgloan notes (see note
L5)with anaggregate value of £461.367 (FY22 £2.991 374). The accrued interest on the preterence shares andican
notes n the perod inciude £/98 967 (FY?22- £433.975) In respect of the directors and key rmanagement persornnz|
The preference shares and loan notes balance relating to directors and key management. including accrued imterest
was £9 706,608 {FY22 £8 492 847),

19 Ultimate controlling parties

The Immediate parent compary of BigHana UK Topco Limited 1s BigHand US Equity Holdco, LLC waich s
incorparated nthe Cayman Islands. The ultimate controlling party 1s LLCP GP Holdings, LLC whichisincorporatedin
the United States. The smaliest group nto which the financial statements are conschdated 1s BigHand UK Topco
Lirmited. The largest group into which tne financial staterments of the company are corsoldated is Levine Lercntman
Capttal Partners VI AIV. L.Pwhich has aregistered office C/o Maples Corporate Services Limited PO Box 309 Ugland
House, Grand Cayrran, Cayman fslands KY1-1104
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Company Balance Sheet

at 31 March 2023

MNote 2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Fixed assets
invastments in subsidiares 27 175211 175211
Cuntenl dssels
Debtors 25 44 3
Prepavments 25 166 93
210 96
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 24 (59} (478)
Net current liabilities 151 (282)
Total assets less current Habilities 175,362 174829
Creditors: armounts falling due after more than one vear 24 217,175 193 506
Caplitat and reserves
Called up share capital 25 13 13
Snare premium account 1,483 1462
cmplovee Beneft Trust 37 {(28)
Profit and loss account (43,346} (20.124)
Total equity {41,813) (18.67/)
175,362 174829

Thelossforthe vearwas £23.221.000(FY22 loss of £14.£425.000)

These financial staternents were approved py the Board of directors on 31 July 20232 and were signea on its behalf
By
DacuSigned by:

Sames Dands

AODSI5BS00ENAFS
sames Davig

CFO
3 sy 20235

Company reqistered number 12822924

BigHand
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 March 2023

Share Employee

Share Prermium Retaired Benefit Trust Total Equity
Capital Account Earnings £'000 £'000

£'000 £'000 £'000
31 March 2021 10 951 {5.699) {5} {4,743)
Loss for the year 2022 - - (14.425) - (14,225}
Other comprehensive iIncome - - - - -
Total Comprehensive loss for the year - - (14,425} - {14.425)
Issue of shares 3 511 - - 514
EBT movement - - - {23) (23)
31 March 2022 13 1,462 (20,124) {28) (18,677}
Loss for the year 2023 - - (23,221} - (252210
Other comprehens.ve income - - - - -
Total Comprehensive loss for the year - (23.221) - (23,221)
Issue of shares - 20 - - 20
EBT movernant - G5 65

31 March 2023 13 1,482 (43.345) 37 (41,813)
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Notes to the parent company financial statements
(forming part of the financial statements)
20 Accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been applied consistertly m dealing with iterms whirch are consicered maternal
ir relalion to the financial statements.

Hasis Of oropardtion

The parcnt company financial staterments were prepared 10 accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
Reducad D solosure Framowor< (FRS 101} and in accordance wath applicable accounting standards.

The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial statements for the
yoar ended 31 March 20235, The Comipany has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS
101

the requirerments of paragrapns 45(b) and 46-52 of IFKS 2 Share-based Payment,

- thereagurements of paragraphs 62, Bo4(d) BoAcan, Bo4(y). Bo4lh) Bo4()) te B64(m), BE4Aln)n), B4 (o)),
B64(pi Ba-1qgHin). 866 and B57of IFRS 3 Business Cornbinations,
therequirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.
the requirements of paragraphs 81-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement,
the requircments of caragraphs 10(d). LO(f), 39can and 134-126 ot IAS 1 Presentation of Firiancial Staterments,
the requrerents of JAS 7 Statement of Casn Flows;

- therequirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accoununy Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors,
the requirements of paragrann 17 of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures;

- theregurements nlAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered into
betweentwo or more members of a yroup, provided that any subsidiary which s a party to the transaction s
whelly owned by such a member, and
therequiraments of paragrapns 134{d)-134(f) and 135can-135can of IAS 36 Imparrmant of Assets

The company nas taken advantage of exernption avellable under Section 408 of Companies Act 2006 not Lo present
s o profit andloss account. The company's loss for the year was £235.221.000 (FY22- loss of £14.425 0001

Coung (Concenr
A5 te head of *he BigHand Group. the Cormpany’ going concern status s inherently linked to the Gomng Concern
pos non of the Group. please Refer to Note 1 of the Conscolidated financial staternents

i ryimanrs

Investmarts 'n subsidiary undertakings. associates and jont ventures are stated at cost less any provision “or
imparment. The carryimg value of investments s reviewed for mpairment when events or changes In crcumstances

rdicate the carrying value may not be recovercble,

: BigHand
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Notes to the parent company financial statements (continued)

Accounting policies (continued)
Taxation

Taxontbe profit or loss for the year cormprises current and deferred tax ardis recognised in the income staternent.

Current tax is the expected tax payasble or recewvable on the taxable income or loss for the year. using Lax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at thebalance sneet date, and any adjustment to tax payabile inrespect of previous
years.

Deferred taxis provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets anahabihues for financial
reporting purpases and the amounts used for taxaton purposes. Tne following temporary differerices sre not
provided for the initial recognition of goodwill the nitial recognition of assets or lablilies that atfect ne ther
accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination, and differences relating te investrrents in
subsidiaries to the extent that can be controlled and that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future The
amount of deferred tax provided s based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying armount
af assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet daie

A deferred tax asset 1s recognised only 1o the extent that it s prohable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary dfference can be utilised.

Finance costs and borrowings

Interast-bearing lcans are recorded at the proceeds recawved. net of direct 1ssue costs Finance charges. including
premiums payable on settlement or redemption and directissue costs, arc accounted for on anamrortised cost bosis
in the profit or loss account using the effective interest method and are added to the car-ying amount of the
Instrument to the extent that they are not seitled in the penod nwhck they anse.

Classitication Of financia! instruments isswed by the Cormpany

Finanaal mstruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet Lthe following
two conditions

al  they nclude no contraciual obligat ons upon the Company to celiver cash or other financal assets o to
exchange financial assets or timancial labiities with another pacty under conditions that ace potontally
unfavourable to the Company. anc

b)  wherothemnstrument will or may be settled inthe Company's owneguity instruments, its either anon-denvative
that ncluces no obligation to deliver a vanable number of the Company's own equity nstruments or is a dernvative
that will be settled by the Company's exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other finzncial assets tor @ fixed
number of its own equily Instrurments

To the extent that this aefinition 1s not met, the proceeds of 1ssue are classifiec as a financiel laoility. Where the
nstrumert so classified takes the legalform of the Company's awn shares, the amounts presented ir these t nancial
statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude armounts inrelatior Lo those shares

Finance payments associated with fimancial habiities are deaft with as part of interest payable and sirmilar charges
Finance payments associated with financial instruments that are classified as part of equity {see dvidends policy). are

dealt wiih as approgrnators in the reconaihation of movements inequity
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Notes to the parent company financial statements {(continued)

Accounting policies (continued)
{hadends on shares presented within eguity

Div dendincome s recognised when the company's night to recewve paviment s established

Emnloyes benefit irust (EBT)

The Cormpany cperates an EBT over which 1t has de facto control of the shares helc by the trust and bears the

benafits and risk. It thereforo records the assets and habilities and the results and cash flow 9" the trust as its own.

21 Remuneration of Directors
None of the directors received any rermuneration for ther gualfying services ta the Company in the period.

Two af the directors who served the company during the year are paid by the ultirate conureling party, Levine
Lewhtrman Capital Partners. There has been no recharge to the cornpany on the basis that the amount attributable
tothacompary s neghgible. Two other directors are pad “or by a subsidiary. BigHana UK Bidco Limnited. The
arectors do not helieve that itis practical to epportion the remunerauon for ther qualifying services between
remuncration as cirectors of the Company and therr remuneration as directors of the fellow subsidiary comparues.

BigHand




DocuSign Envelope 1D: E876BA85-4121-4C8D-8198-010933B965EE
BigHand UK Topca Limited

ARued renorts 30G Consoidaiod Luancia! siaterents

d! BigHand

St 00

Notes to the parent company financial statements {continued)

22 Investments in subsidiaries

Shares In Group undertaking

companies

BigHand UK Topco
2023 2022
£'000 E0DO

Cost anid et hook vale:

Investments N subsidiarnes 175211 1/5211
175,211 175211

The nvestment relztes to BigHand UK Holdeo Limited, a wholly-owned subsichary registered in England and Wates,
BigHand UK Holdco Limited owns the entire 1ssued share capital of the following companies oither directly or

ndirectly

Principal place ot Registered number Class of Proportion ot
business/ shares votirg nghts
Country of held  and shares held

Incorporation
2023
Bigand UK Holdco Limuted England & Wales 128323635  Ordinary 100%
BigHand UK Midco Limited England & Wales 178323871 Ordinary 100%
BigHand UK Bidco Limited England & Wales 172834023  Ordinary 100%
BH Group Topco Limited England & Wales 11267353 Ordinary 100%
BH Group Midco Limited Frgland & Wales 11267/53  Ordinary 100%
BH Group Bidco Lirnited England & Wales 11267908  Orainary 100%
BH Topco Limited England & Wales 7981569 Ordinary 100%
BB Midco Limited England & Wales 7091572 Ordinary 100%
BH Bidco Limited England & Wales 7915020  Ordinary 100%
BigHand Holdings Limited England & Wales 5819091 Ordinary 100%
BigHand Limited England & Wales 3128724  Qrdnary 1009
nFlow Software Limited England & Wales 3916189 Ordimary 100%
DW Reporting Lirmited England & Walas 8348786  Orcinary 100
Iphehon Limited England & Wales 0NR742298  Ordinary 100%
Mason & Cook Lirnited England & Wales 08622091  Ordmnary 100%
DWW Reporting Canada Limited Canada BC1070430  Ordmary 100%
BigHand Inc. USA 4175245  Common 100%
Payne Group Inc. USA 502624  Comimon 100%,
BigHand Software Inc. Canada B211 i{éi@léi Common 100%
BigHand Software Pty Limited Austraha CAN 131578544  Ordinary 100%,
BigHand B V. {formerly dFlow B V) Netnerfands KvK 17209395  Qramary 100%
Ind.ura oldings LLC USA 83-1575916  Oramary 100%
Iridiurmn Technology Opce, LLC USA R82-3597898  Ordinary 100%
Iridium Technology New Zealand Ltd New Zealand 9429047025110  Ordinary 100%
Iricium Technoloyy Canada Ltd Canada 730094737 Crdinary 100%;
Iridium Technology Carada Inc. (US) LSA 83-1393535  Ordinary 100%

BigHand
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Notes to the parent company financial statements (continued)

Investments in subsidiaries {continued)

The principal ectivity of all of the cormpanies s the provision of productivity and profitability solutions te the legal,
profess onal services and healtncare markets, except for BigHard UK Holdeo Limited, B.gHand UK Midco wimited,
BnHand UK Bidco Limited, BH Group Topco Limited. 2H Group Midco Limited, BH Group Bidco Lirmited, BH Topeo
L mied, BHMidco Limited, BH Bidco Limited and BigHand Holdings Lirrnted wh ch are investment holding comparnes
providng Mmanagement services to ther subsidianies.

The registered office for BigHand UK Holdeo Lirmited. B.gHand UK Micco Limited, BigHand UK Bideo Limitec, BH
Group Topeo Lirmited. BH Group Mideo Limited, BH Group Bidco Limited. BH Topco Lirmited. BH Midco Limited, BH
Bideo L mited. BigHand Holdings Limited. BigHarnd Lirmited. DW Reportirng Limited . Iphelion Limited, Mason & Cook
Limited and nFlow Soltware Limited are all at 27 Union Street, London, SE7 15D

Theregistercd otfices of the overscas subsidiary companies are as ‘offows
s Bighannine = 2711 Centerville Road. Suite 400, Wimington. Newcastle, Delaware 19808 USA /1255
s Payne Groupinc. = 3218 3 Avenue Suite 1900, Seatlle WA SE101-3051
o RBighend Software Inc — 199 Bay St. Cornmeerce Court West. Suite 4000, Toronto ONMSL 1A2
*  BigHend Softwars Pty Ltd -1 evel 11 00 Castlereagh Street. Sydriey NSW 2000
*  BigHana BY. - Flght Forum 40 Ground floe 5657 DB Endhoven Metherlands {virtual Otfice Sparce)
« DWW Reoortirg Canada Lirmited — o/o McCarthy Tétrault LLP. Suite 2400 745 Thurlow Strect, Vancowwver 3C VBE 525
o IndwmHoldings LLC - 5470 Kietzke Lane. Swte 3000 Rero NV 89511
. ndiim Technology Opeo. ! 1O - 125 S Wacker Drive, Sute 300 Chicago. fe 60606
. Indium Technology New Zealanc Ltd — c/o Duberly Vincent Associates Ltd, Unit 75,351 Rosedale Hoad. Albany,
Auciland D632 N7
e nichum Techinology Canada L TID - 220-7565 132nd 5t Surrey, 80, Canada
s Indium Technology Canadalne, (US) - 5470 Kietzke Lane, Sute 300, Renc, NV 89511

23 Debtors
2023 2022
£'0C0 £'000
Amounts receivable within one vear
Amaounts owed from Group undertakings™ 44 3
Prepaymerts 166 93
210 96

TThe amount owed Lo Group undertakings 1s unsceured and repavanle on demsnd. The group has an annual 636 Interest charge
or themarconpany balances as at year end,

| BigHand
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Notes to the parent company financial statements (continued)

24 Creditors
2023 2022
£'000 £000
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed to Group undertakings™ (59) (4781
Accruals - .
(59) (478]
Amounts faling due after more than one year
10% preterence shares classified as hahilitics 174,172 172,710
Preference dividend 43,003 19796
217,175 193,500

~The amount payable to Group undertakings s unsecured and repayable an demand. Tae group has anacnual 6% nierest charge
on the Intercompany balences as at year end.

The preference shares have a par value of £0.01 and are allotted for £0 01 per share. The preference shares carry an
entitlement to preference dvidend at the rate of 12% peor share per annum. compounded annually on 13 October
cachyear.

25 Called up share capital

2023 2022
£'000 £000

Allotrad called wup and fully pald,
1.089.110 A ordinary shares of £0.01 each (FY22- 1.0O8%.110) 11 1
50,628 Bordinary shares of £001 cach(FY22 48.210) - -
50,000 C* ardinary shares of £0.01 each {FY22 50.000) 1 1
131.500 C2 ordinary shares of F0.01 each (FY22 119,500) 1 1
13 13

Post balance sheet date on 11th April 2023 11,000 C2 shares of £0 01 each were issued (at £1.50 pe: share)

Votingnghts

On a show of hands and on poll. each holder of class A, class B, class Cl orchinary shares who s present snallhave one
vote The holders of C2 ordinary shares are not entitled to vote, receve nofice nor attend cr speak at any general
meetings.

Distrihut ons (including dividends) ana return of capital

On all distributions (Including a return of capital on a lqgudation. but excluding a redemption of or purchase by the
company of1ts own shares) (the "Ordinary Distnbutions”}. the assets of the compeny remaming after the paymert of
1ts babiities shall be distributed among the holders of class A, class B, clzss C1 and class C2 ordinary snares {the
"Ord.nary Shares") pro rata nased on the number of Ordinary Shares hele by each such holder, arovicec that such
Ordinary Distributions shall, in respect of any class B ordinary shares held by any Bad Leaver or Very Bad Leaver (as
defined n the articles), be capped at a maxirnum value {(with any greater amount that would otnerwise have beer
allocated to such Bad Leaver or Very Bad Leaver inrespect of such class B ordinary shares being allocated amongst

the remaining holders of the Ordinary Shares pan passu as i 1ne same const.tuted one class of share).
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26 Reserves

MNatire and purpose af reserves:

Retamed Earntmgs — comprises the accumulated retaimed profits from current anc prior periods.

Skare Promium Reserve - corrprises hisloncal oremiums paid above the nommal value of egurty shares issued.
Frmployee Benefit Trust - The Company sponsors an Employee Benefit Trust in which it holds the shares

Al the palance sheet date 5347 ordinary B shares and 19,500 ordinary CZ shares were hela oy the Trust

27 Related party disclosures

The Company s controlled by Levine Leichtman Capital Partrners The Company has taken advantage of the
exermnptionin FRS 1071 "Related party disclosure” (paragranh 17 and 18A) not 1o disclose transactions with wholly
owned sunsid anes. Detals of transactions with other related parties sre set out innote 19.

28 Subsidiary audit exemptions
Fhe following subsidiaries are exernpt fromtherequirement of ansudit of therr ndividual accounts in cormpliance with
A /9A-C of the Companies Act 2000 Parental Guaraniee has been given by BigHand UK Topce Limeted to each of
the subsichanes hsted below
Principal place of Registered number
busimess/ Country
ofincorporation

BigHand UK Holdco Limited England & Wales 12833635
BigHand UK Mideo Limited England & Wales 12823971
Bigdand UK Bidco Limitec England & Wales 12834023
BH Group vopco Limited England & Wales 11267353
BH Group Midoo Limited England & Wales 11267753
RH Group Bide o Limited England & Wales 11267908
BH "opco Lnuted England & Wales 7981569
BH Mrdco Linuted England & Wales 7991572
BH Biclco Linuted Englard & Wales 7915020
Big-and Holdings Lirmited Englanc & Wales H818091
BigHand Limited England & Wales 3128724
rFlow Software Limited England & Wales 3916185
DW Reporting Limn tod England & Wales 3318785
Ipriehon Limited England & Wales 05743298
Mason & Cock Limited England & Wales 08622081

| BigHand




